# SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 1 1 2019

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Jorge Navarrete Cler'

	) No. S253155
In re WILLIE SCOGGINS,	) Court of Appeal ) (Third District) ) No. C084358
On Habeas Corpus,	) Sacramento County ) Superior Court ) No. 08F04643

# PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the Decision of the Court of Appeal
Third Appellate District

From a Judgment of the Superior Court for the County of Sacramento

HONORABLE DAVID DE ALBA, JUDGE

#### VICTOR J. MORSE

Attorney at Law (State Bar #120916) 3145 Geary Boulevard, PMB # 232 San Francisco, California 94118-3316

Telephone: (415) 387-5828

Email:

victormorse@comcast.net

#### **ISSUE FOR REVIEW**

Is proof of a defendant's mere planning of an unarmed beating and robbery that unexpectedly results in death insufficient to establish the reckless indifference to human life essential to a robbery-murder special circumstance, when the evidence discloses that the risk of death was not a grave risk but merely a foreseeable risk?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Petitioner argued in this habeas corpus proceeding that under *People v. Banks* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 788 and *People v. Clark* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 522, the evidence presented at his trial is insufficient to show that he acted with "reckless indifference to human life" as is required to prove the robbery-murder special circumstance when the defendant is

not the actual killer and does not intend to kill. (See *Banks, supra*, at pp. 797-798; *Clark, supra*, at p. 609, citing *Tison v. Arizona* (1987) 481 U.S. 137, 158 [95 L.Ed.2d 127].)

In a two-to-one decision, the Court of Appeal mistakenly rejected petitioner's contention. (Typed op'n., pp. 23-25.)<sup>1/</sup> The majority acknowledged that the evidence does not show that petitioner was armed or that he knew the actual killer was armed. (Typed op'n., pp. 23-24.) The majority also noted that petitioner was not present at the crime scene. (Typed op'n., p. 23.) But the majority reasoned that, "far from planning the robbery with an eye to minimizing the possibility of violence, the plan itself included a violent assault," insofar as the "hastily put together" plan involved the robbers meeting the victim "in order to rob and 'beat the shit out of him." (Typed op'n., p. 25.) Thus the majority found the evidence sufficient to prove that petitioner 'acted with reckless indifference to human life." (Typed op'n., p. 25.)

However, the concurring and dissenting opinion disagreed with the majority's view that petitioner acted with reckless indifference to human life. (Typed op'n., p. 1 (conc. & dis. opn. of Renner, J.).) The concurring and dissenting opinion relied on this Court's holding in *Banks, supra*, at p. 808 that "[a]wareness of no more than the foreseeable risk of death inherent in any armed crime is insufficient; only knowingly creating a 'grave risk of death' satisfies the constitutional minimum." (Typed op'n., p. 4 (conc. & dis. opn. of

<sup>1. &</sup>quot;Typed op'n." refers to the Court of Appeal's typed opinion.

Renner, J.).) The concurring and dissenting opinion explained that the majority opinion improperly "turns *the planning* of an unarmed beating and robbery, that unexpectedly results in death, into a crime eligible for the death penalty or life without the possibility of parole." (Typed op'n., p. 1 (conc. & dis. opn. of Renner, J.), emphasis in original.)

This Court should clarify that a defendant's mere planning of an unarmed beating and robbery that unexpectedly results in death is insufficient to establish a reckless indifference to human life, when the evidence discloses that the risk of death was not grave but merely foreseeable, and grant the writ of habeas corpus to set aside the judgment that imposed the robbery murder special circumstance and sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment without possibility of parole.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A complaint was deemed an information on April 9, 2010 in Sacramento County Superior Court case no. 08F04643. (1 CT 6.)<sup>2/</sup> It charged petitioner with crimes against Samuel Wilson on June 8, 2008: murder (§ 187, subd. (a))<sup>3/</sup> in count one, and attempted second degree robbery (§§ 664, 211) in count two. It alleged as a special

<sup>2.</sup> CT, SCT, and RT refer respectively to the Clerk's Transcript, Supplemental Clerk's Transcript, and Reporter's Transcript in petitioner's appeal in No. C068971. Simultaneous with the filing of this brief, petitioner is filing in this Court a request for judicial notice of the record in No. C068971 pursuant to Evidence Code section 452, subdivision (d).

<sup>3.</sup> Section references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

circumstance (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(17)) that petitioner committed the murder while attempting to commit robbery, and alleged that he was vicariously armed (§ 12022, subd. (a)(1)) while committing the offenses. (1 CT 27-28.)

Jury trial began on April 12, 2011 but the jury deadlocked and a mistrial was declared on May 10, 2011. (2 CT 375, 400-401.) Jury trial began again on June 2, 2011. (2 CT 432.) The jury returned verdicts on June 2, 2011, finding petitioner guilty of first degree murder and attempted second degree robbery, and finding the special circumstance and arming enhancement allegations true. (2 CT 477-479, 529-531.)

Sentence was imposed on August 5, 2011. The court imposed a term of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for petitioner's conviction of first degree murder with a special circumstance, and stayed imposition of terms for his attempted robbery conviction and the arming enhancement. (2 CT 554-555, 559-560.)

In its opinion in No. C068971 filed March 12 and modified April 7, 2014, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment against petitioner, rejecting his claim that the felony murder special circumstance must be reversed due to insufficient evidence to prove that he acted with the intent to kill or reckless indifference to human life. This Court in No. S217481 denied review on June 18, 2014.

On May 27, 2016, petitioner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court in No. S234842. On March 29, 2017, this Court issued an order to show cause returnable before the Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal filed its opinion on December 17, 2018 in

No. C084358, discharging the order to show cause and denying the petition for writ of habeas corpus.

This Court granted petitioner's petition for review on April 10, 2019 in No. S253155.

# STATEMENT OF FACTS

## A. Introduction and Summary

Petitioner was tried and convicted of first degree murder for the shooting death of Samuel Wilson. The prosecution's evidence shows that Wilson was shot and killed by Randall Powell (1 RT 231, 237, 239, 288, 290; 2 RT 413, 418, 481, 487-488), who was assisted by Shaneil Cooks, Jennifer Kane, and James Howard. (1 RT 72-75, 135; 2 RT 534-539, 552-553, 556, 558-559.) The prosecution also presented evidence to show that the shooting occurred pursuant to a plan petitioner had devised with his accomplices to confront Wilson, beat him up, and recover money that petitioner had paid to Wilson in exchange for TVs that turned out to be fake. (2 RT 398-401, 407, 425-431, 582; 2 CT 590-591, 595.) However, the evidence further shows that petitioner did not participate in his accomplices' confrontation with Wilson in the parking lot of a strip mall, but only observed it from a Shell gas station adjacent to the parking lot. (3 CT 651, 654; 1 RT 65-66, 79-80, 82, 108, 129.) No evidence establishes that petitioner expected anyone to be armed.

## B. Eyewitnesses to the Fatal Shooting of Samuel Wilson

On June 8, 2008 at about 6:30 p.m., Cindy Keller was driving on Florin Road near the Burlington Coat Factory in Sacramento

with passengers Pamela and Jessica Coleman when they observed a white van drive into the parking lot of a strip mall adjacent to a Shell gas station. (1 RT 65-66, 79-80, 82, 108, 129.) They observed two men standing and conversing in the parking lot near where the white van stopped. (1 RT 82, 88, 92, 111-112.) Samuel Wilson was one of the men. (1 RT 39.) Two women in the parking lot were talking to the driver of the van. (1 RT 122-124.) Other people were nearby. (1 RT 124.)

Soon thereafter, shots were fired. (1 RT 67, 81, 129.) Wilson ran, but the other man pursued him, holding a black semiautomatic handgun in his right hand and firing shots at Wilson. (1 RT 82-83, 85-86, 131.) The gunman was slender and wore no shirt but he wore a white do rag on his head. (1 RT 84-86.) When Wilson fell to the ground, the gunman got into the white van. (1 RT 87, 124, 132.)

The white van drove quickly out of the parking lot and onto Florin Road, swerved around Keller's car, and drove away: (1 RT 69, 71-72, 93, 96, 132.) The van's driver was a middle-aged white woman with strawberry blonde, reddish hair in a tight slicked back ponytail. (1 RT 70-72, 95.) Pamela Coleman wrote the van's license number. (1 RT 71, 96, 133.) Keller called 911. (1 RT 101; 2 CT 563, 567.)

Martesha Lewis was driving on Florin Road with passengers Latecia Lovelace and Lakesha Sherron when they saw Wilson lying on the ground in the parking lot. (1 RT 191-192, 255; 2 RT 496-497.) Lewis drove into the parking lot and stopped the car, then got out, checked on Wilson, and saw that he had been shot. (1 RT 194-195, 255; 2 RT 498-499.) Someone called 911. (1 RT 196.)

#### C. <u>Petitioner's Conversation With</u> Lakeesha Sherron at the Scene

As Marteesha Lewis, Latecia Lovelace, and Lakeesha Sherron were standing near Wilson's body, petitioner approached them. (1 RT 197, 256; 2 RT 499-500.) Petitioner talked to Sherron, whom he had previously dated. (1 RT 199, 252.) Although Lewis recalled hearing petitioner say something that led her to believe he knew the people who had shot Wilson, neither Sherron nor Lovelace recalled hearing petitioner say he knew who had done it. (1 RT 203-204, 261; 2 RT 503; 3 CT 885.) At trial, Sherron denied that she and petitioner had planned in advance to meet near the scene where Wilson was shot. (1 RT 256.)

Petitioner walked across the street from the scene of the shooting, but then he returned and talked to an officer who had arrived. (1 RT 210, 258; 2 RT 502, 523.) Petitioner was cooperative. (2 RT 531.)

### D. <u>Investigation at the Scene of the Shooting</u>

Sheriff's deputies and medical personnel began to arrive on the scene at about 6:43 p.m. (1 RT 50, 53; 2 RT 521-522.) Cindy Keller provided a deputy with the license number of the white van. (2 RT 525.)

Wilson was transported to a hospital but he died as a result of two gunshot wounds to his back and one to the back of his arm. (1 RT 40-48, 54.) Wilson had \$720 in his pocket and was wearing a watch and jewelry. (1 RT 62, 64; 2 RT 468.) Two expended .32 caliber semiautomatic bullets were recovered at the autopsy. (2 RT 508-509.)

A blue minivan parked in the parking lot had its engine running. (2 RT 469, 524, 546.) Six expended shell casings were found

in the parking lot by the rear of the blue minivan. (2 RT 469, 524, 545.)

A search of the blue minivan disclosed what appeared to be a large TV wrapped in bubble wrap in its original packaging. (1 RT 168-169; 2 RT 550.) But inside the packaging was only a piece of plywood and some two-by-fours. (1 RT 170.) There were also similar bogus packages that appeared to contain laptops and a PlayStation but actually contained phone books. (1 RT 171; 2 RT 479, 550.)

Samuel Wilson's phone was in the blue minivan. (2 RT 551.) Its call history included several recent calls to Jennifer Kane's and Shaneil Cooks's phones. (2 RT 552-553.) Wilson had used the star 67 function to block caller ID for his calls to their phones. (2 RT 552-553.) Also inside the minivan was a paper with Kane's phone number and the name Jenna. (1 RT 181, 226; 2 RT 478, 486, 555.) Kane was a close friend to Shaneil Cooks, who was petitioner's girlfriend and also drove a white van. (1 RT 177, 179, 278; 2 RT 487.)

#### E. Search of Petitioner's Residence

The morning after the fatal shooting, officers arrived at petitioner's residence on McGlashan Street. (1 RT 286; 2 RT 384-385, 533-534.) They took petitioner and other residents into custody. (1 RT 286-287.) One bedroom in the house contained identifying paperwork for petitioner, Shaneil Cooks, and Jennifer Kane. (2 RT 534-535.) A cell phone was found in the bedroom. (2 RT 535.)

Officers towed a white van from the house. (2 RT 477-478, 535.) The van had the license number that Pamela Coleman had written after the shooting. (1 RT 135; 2 RT 535.) Also in the van was paperwork

bearing the names of Jennifer Kane and Shaneil Cooks. (2 RT 536.) The papers with Cooks's name also had the number of the cell phone found in the bedroom in the McGlashan Street house. (2 RT 535, 538-539.)

At Kane's residence, a key was found that fit the white van. (2 RT 556.) It was on a ring with a photo of Cooks. (2 RT 556.)

# F. Samuel Wilson's Phone Calls Immediately Prior to His Death

On June 8, the day of the shooting, Samuel Wilson drove a van from his home in Fairfield to Sacramento to earn money by fraudulently selling fake TVs to unsuspecting buyers. (1 RT 264-267.)

California Justice Department officers had just begun wiretapping Wilson's cell phone in their investigation of a criminal street gang. (2 RT 310-311.) Four calls were recorded on June 8. (2 RT 313.) In the first call at 5:47 p.m., Wilson said his name was Michael and talked to Jennifer Kane about planning to meet Kane's mother to sell her a TV. (1 RT 177, 181, 183, 226; 2 RT 313, 318, 486; 2 CT 582-584.) Kane told Wilson that her mother's name was Darla and gave Wilson a phone number that Kane said was her mother's number. (2 CT 584; 1 RT 182; 2 RT 313.) The number was actually Shaneil Cooks's number. (2 RT 534-535, 538-539.)

In the second call at 5:49 p.m., Wilson called Cooks's number and talked to a woman. (2 RT 318; 2 CT 584.) Wilson again said his name was Michael. (2 CT 584.) Wilson told the woman that he had just talked to her daughter, and he asked her to meet him near Florin Road. (2 CT 584-585.) In the third call at 6:03 p.m., the woman told

Wilson that she would be there within minutes. (2 RT 318; 2 CT 586-587.) In the fourth call at 6:16 p.m., the woman told Wilson that her daughter and friend were driving up toward Wilson's location in a van and that she was driving behind the van in a silver car. (2 RT 318; 2 CT 587.) Wilson said he was in a blue van. (2 CT 588.) Wilson told the woman to drive to the Shell gas station. (2 CT 589.)

According to Detective Robert Tracy, the voice heard on the first calls was that of Jennifer Kane and the voice heard on the subsequent calls was that of Shaneil Cooks. (2 RT 558-559.)

#### G. <u>Petitioner's Friend Randall Powell's</u> <u>Behavior On the Evening of the Shooting</u>

Randall Powell had two girlfriends, Latoya Tate and Jennifer Kane. (1 RT 177, 221, 224.) According to Tate, Powell considered petitioner (BJ or Baby James) and James Howard (Frankie) his brothers. (1 RT 219-221, 278; 2 RT 379, 474.) Powell and Howard were the closest of the three. (1 RT 234, 242.)

On the evening of June 8, Randall Powell was with Tate at her apartment when Kane called Tate and asked to speak with Powell. (1 RT 225-228.) Kane called Tate's phone, but it was a phone that both Powell and Tate used. (1 RT 222-223, 225, 232; 2 RT 486.) Tate told Kane that Powell would call her back. (1 RT 228.) When Kane called back five or ten minutes later, she talked to Powell. (1 RT 229.) Kane told Powell that she had a gas card and wanted to put gas in Tate's car, which Powell also used. (1 RT 229.) Powell left and told Tate he was going to the Shell station. (1 RT 230.) He returned 10 to 15 minutes

later. (1 RT 230.) Kane called again at about 6:00 p.m. (1 RT 230, 232.) Tate overheard Kane tell Powell, "We got the guys that ripped you off," and "We found the guy that sold you guys the TVs." (1 RT 231, 237, 239; 2 RT 487-488.) Powell left again, telling Tate that he was going to meet his friend James Howard and get some weed. (1 RT 231, 240-241.) Powell took Tate's cell phone. (1 RT 232.) Powell returned 40 to 45 minutes later. (1 RT 231.) The next day, Tate drove Powell to his family's house in Pittsburg. (1 RT 233.)

# H. Events at Petitioner's Residence On the Evening of the Shooting

Petitioner lived at a house on McGlashan Street called "The Trap," which was both a residence and a crash pad for people who used drugs. (1 RT 275, 277, 279; 2 RT 384.) Herman Anthony Long, who had inherited the house from his father, also lived there with his wife Cheryl Long, a crack cocaine user. (1 RT 276, 279; 2 RT 384.) Other residents included Lorenzo McCoy (Youngster) and Lashana Ray. (1 RT 277; 2 RT 303, 381.) Petitioner and McCoy sold rock cocaine, and Ray was a prostitute. (2 RT 303, 385.) Visitors to the house included petitioner's girlfriend Shaneil Cooks, petitioner's friend Randall Powell, and Powell's girlfriend Jennifer Kane, a close friend of Cooks. (1 RT 177, 179, 278, 280; 2 RT 379-380, 415.)

On the evening of June 8, petitioner, Cooks, Powell, and Kane were all at the McGlashan Street house. (1 RT 279-281.) Kane appeared nervous and kept looking out the windows. (1 RT 280.) Powell was wearing no shirt, but had one with him. (1 RT 281.) McCoy, Ray,

Howard, Powell, and Kane were watching TV news. (1 RT 285.) The white van was parked down the street from the house. (1 RT 283.)

#### I. <u>Petitioner's Spoken Intention to Get His Money</u> Back After Someone Sold Him Fake TVs

According to Lorenzo McCoy, who sold cocaine and lived at petitioner's residence, petitioner came home with two or three TVs a couple of days before the shooting. (2 RT 303, 385, 395.) Petitioner said he bought the TVs for \$300 each from "a dude off the street." (2 RT 398.) The next day, petitioner told McCoy that he had opened the packages and found the TVs were fake. (2 RT 399-400.) Petitioner was mad because he had paid \$900 for them. (2 RT 400, 581.) He wanted to beat up the seller and get his money back. (2 RT 401, 407.)

On the day of the shooting, petitioner phoned McCoy and James Howard. (2 RT 407, 474; 2 CT 591.) Petitioner told them that Shaneil Cooks and Jennifer Kane had reported that the fake TV seller was at the Burlington Coat Factory. (2 CT 590-591; 2 RT 425-427.)

Petitioner devised a plan in which Cooks and Kane would arrange to meet the fake TV seller and pretend to buy a TV. (2 RT 427, 430-431, 582.) Petitioner planned to meet Powell and Howard at the Shell station, beat up the fake TV seller, and get back petitioner's money. (2 CT 595; 2 RT 425-426, 428-429, 582.) Specifically, the plan devised by petitioner was to "beat the shit out of" the victim and "get the fucking money back." (2 RT 428-429; 2 CT 593, 595.) Powell remarked to McCoy that he and "the girls" would get the money back. (2 RT 413.)

McCoy recalled that later in the day, petitioner, Powell,

Howard, Cooks, and Kane returned to the McGlashan Street house and talked about a shooting. (2 RT 414, 418, 427.) Powell said he was the shooter. (2 RT 418.) Petitioner said that they got into Cooks's van. (2 RT 584.) They watched the TV news. (2 RT 418.) McCoy told them they were "stupid motherfuckers." (2 RT 419.) Petitioner told Powell he needed to get out of town. (2 RT 420.)

When detectives first interviewed McCoy about the events, he was uncooperative and untruthful. (2 RT 388, 422.) But when they interviewed McCloy on a subsequent occasion, they offered to talk to the District Attorney about McCoy's pending misdemeanor warrant, and McCoy became more cooperative, although he claimed to have done so because the detectives were bothering him, not because the detectives offered to talk to the District Attorney about his case. (2 RT 393-394.)

McCoy testified at trial with use immunity. (2 RT 378.) According to Lashana Ray, who lived with him, McCoy lied all the time. (3 RT 624.)

#### J. <u>Identification of Randall Powell and</u> <u>James Howard on a Surveillance Video</u>

A few days after the shooting, police showed Cheryl Long a video from a surveillance camera. (1 RT 287-288.) Long identified the shooter as Randall Powell, based on the shooter's movements and mannerisms. (1 RT 288, 290; 2 RT 481.) Long also identified another man in the video as James Howard. (1 RT 289; 2 RT 481.) However, Long said she could not identify their faces. (2 RT 481.)

Long recanted her identification of Powell when she

testified twice before trial. (1 RT 290-292.) At petitioner's trial, Long first testified that she had truthfully identified Powell and Howard to police, but then testified that she had falsely identified them. (1 RT 289-294.) She explained that she recanted because she was nervous about being labeled a snitch and her identifications were false. (1 RT 192, 299.) Long explained that she had falsely identified Powell and Howard because she believed police would give her money. (1 RT 293, 300.) Although police had not promised her any money, they gave her fifty dollars for lodging and food after she identified Powell and Howard three days after the shooting. (1 RT 297; 2 RT 483-484, 487.)

#### K. Other Identification

Eyewitness Jessica Coleman viewed a lineup five days after the shooting and identified Cooks as the driver of the white van. (1 RT 72-75.) Coleman identified Cooks's photo at trial. (1 RT 72-73.)

#### L. Cell Phone Calls on the Evening of the Shooting

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