In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

WILLIE SCOGGINS,

On Habeas Corpus

Case No. S253155

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 0 9 2019

Third Appellate District, Case No. C084358 Jorge Navarrete Clerk Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 08F04643

The Honorable David De Alba, Judge Deputy

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT SCOGGINS WAS A MAJOR PARTICIPANT AND SHOWED RECKLESS INDIFFERENCE TO HUMAN LIFE TO SUPPORT THE ROBBERY-MURDER SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCE

The evidence presented at trial was sufficient to support the jury's finding that Scoggins, while acting with reckless indifference to human life, was a major participant in the attempted robbery that resulted in Wilson's death. Even in light of *Banks* and *Clark*—which cited a list of nonexclusive circumstances to consider when analyzing whether a defendant acted as a major participant and with reckless indifference to human life—Scoggins is not entitled to relief. (*Banks*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 803; *Clark*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at pp. 618-623.)

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence for a special circumstance, as for a conviction, "the relevant inquiry is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the People, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the allegation beyond a reasonable doubt." "(People v. Lindberg (2008)

45 Cal.4th 1, 27, original italics; *Jackson v. Virginia* (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 318-319; *People v. Johnson* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576.)

When applying the "deferential substantial evidence test" (*People v. Lindberg, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 37), the reviewing court must "presume in support of the judgment the existence of every fact the trier of fact reasonably could infer from the evidence" (*id.* at p. 27). If the jury's finding is supported by substantial evidence, due deference must be accorded the trier of fact, and the reviewing court will not substitute its evaluation of a witness's credibility for that of the factfinder. (*People v. Ochoa* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1199; 1206.) "It is the jury, not the appellate court, that must be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt." (*People v. Perez* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1117, 1126.)

"The standard of review is the same in cases in which the prosecution relies mainly on circumstantial evidence." (*People v. Rodriguez* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 1, 11.) "Although it is the duty of the jury to acquit a defendant if it finds that circumstantial evidence is susceptible of two interpretations, one of which suggests guilt and the other innocence, it is the jury, not the appellate court which must be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If the circumstances reasonably justify the trier of fact's findings, the opinion of the reviewing court that the circumstances might also reasonably be reconciled with a contrary finding does not warrant reversal of the judgment." (*People v. Hodgson* (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 566, 574, internal citations and quotation marks omitted, disapproved of on other grounds by *Banks*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 809, fn. 8.)

B. Constitutional Limitation on Punishing Accomplices to Felony Murder: *Enmund* and *Tison*

Tison v. Arizona (1987) 481 U.S. 137 (Tison), and the Supreme Court's earlier decision in Enmund v. Florida (1982) 458 U.S. 782 (Enmund), involved Eighth Amendment challenges to death sentences

imposed on defendants who had been convicted of felony murder but who had not been the actual killers. *Banks* examined the two cases and held that *Tison* and *Enmund* "represent points on a continuum. [Citation.] Somewhere between them, at conduct less egregious than the Tisons' but more culpable than Earl Enmund's, lies the constitutional minimum for death eligibility." (*Banks*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at pp. 801-802.)

In *Enmund*, *supra*, 458 U.S. 782, the Supreme Court reversed the death sentence of Earl Enmund, who had been convicted under Florida's felony-murder rule. In that case, Enmund's accomplices murdered an elderly couple during a residential armed robbery. (*Id.* at p. 784.) Enmund drove the getaway car, but he had not participated in the actual killing. (*Ibid.*) *Enmund* held that death was a disproportionate sentence where the defendant "did not commit the homicide, was not present when the killing took place, and did not participate in a plot or scheme to murder." (*Id.* at pp. 795, 800-801.) *Enmund* observed that Florida was among a minority of jurisdictions that permitted the death penalty for felony murder simpliciter. (*Id.* at pp. 789, 792.) Yet, the Eighth Amendment prohibited the death penalty for a felony-murder aider and abettor "who does not himself kill, attempt to kill, or intend that a killing take place or that lethal force will be employed." (*Id.* at p. 797.)

Five years later in *Tison*, *supra*, 481 U.S. 137, the Supreme Court considered whether imposition of the death penalty on accomplices to a felony murder who neither killed nor intended to kill violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. The defendants in that case orchestrated the prison escape of their father and his cellmate. (*Id.* at p. 139.) Inside the prison, the defendants armed themselves, another brother, and two convicted murderers, with guns. (*Ibid.*) The defendants assisted the prison escape, and one of the brothers flagged down a family of four for help after the getaway car got a flat tire. (*Id.* at pp. 139-140.) Both defendants

participated in the kidnapping and robbery of the four family members. (*Id.* at p. 140.) They then stood by as their father and his cellmate shot and killed the four victims. (*Id.* at p. 141.)

Tison found that, unlike Enmund, who had not taken part in the murder and had not been present at the murder site, the Tison brothers' "participation in the crime was anything but minor" (Tison, supra, 481 U.S. at p. 152), and the facts "clearly supported a finding that they both subjectively appreciated that their acts were likely to result in the taking of innocent life" (id. at p. 158). Tison stated that "the reckless disregard for human life implicit in knowingly engaging in criminal activities known to carry a grave risk of death represents a highly culpable mental state." (Id. at p. 157.) Tison held that "major participation in the felony committed, combined with reckless indifference to human life, [was] sufficient to satisfy the Enmund culpability requirement" and upheld the defendants' death sentences. (Id. at p. 158.)

C. Felony-Murder Special Circumstance under California Law

Section 190.2, subdivision (d) sets forth the requirements for death or LWOP eligibility for aiders and abettors convicted of first degree murder who had neither killed nor intended to kill. Section 190.2, subdivision (d) states:

Notwithstanding subdivision (c), every person, not the actual killer, who, with reckless indifference to human life and as a major participant, aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, solicits, requests, or assists in the commission of a felony enumerated in paragraph 17 of subdivision (a) which results in the death of some person or persons, and who is found guilty of murder in the first degree therefor, shall be punished by death or imprisonment in the state prison for life without the possibility of parole if a special circumstance enumerated in paragraph (17) of subdivision (a) has been found to be true under Section 190.4.

Five years after section 190.2, subdivision (d) was amended by voter initiative Proposition 115 in 1990,6 and 20 years before *Banks* was decided, this Court recognized in *People v. Estrada* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 568, 575, that California had incorporated the rule of *Tison* in section 190.2, subdivision (d) to bring "state capital sentencing law into conformity with prevailing Eighth Amendment doctrine." For this reason, *Estrada* looked to *Tison* for the meaning of the phrase "reckless indifference to human life." (*Id.* at p. 576.) *Estrada* found that "reckless indifference to human life" was "commonly understood to mean that the defendant was subjectively aware that his or her participation in the felony involved a grave risk of death." (*Id.* at p. 577.)

Seventeen years prior to this Court's decision in *Banks*, the Court of Appeal, in *People v. Proby* (1998) 60 Cal.App.4th 922, found that "the phrase 'major participant' is commonly understood and is not used in a technical sense peculiar to the law." (*Id.* at p. 933.) *Proby* stated that "[t]he common meaning of 'major' includes 'notable or conspicuous in effect or scope' and 'one of the larger or more important members or units of a kind or group." (*Id.* at pp. 933-934.) *Proby* rejected the definition that a "major participant" was limited to a "'ringleader' 'whose participation was greater in importance than that of other participants.'" (*Id.* at p. 934.)

D. People v. Banks

Against this backdrop, *Banks* considered "under what circumstances an accomplice who lacks the intent to kill may qualify as a major participant so as to be statutorily eligible for the death penalty." (*Banks*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 794.) Like *Estrada*, *Banks* found in the legislative history that section 190.2, subdivision (d) was meant to codify the holding

⁶ With some minor modifications, current section 190.2, subdivision (d) is the same as the 1990 version.

in *Tison*. (*Banks*, at p. 794.) Thus, section 190.2, subdivision (d) must be interpreted in light of *Tison* and the Supreme Court's earlier decision in *Enmund*, which "collectively place conduct on a spectrum, with felonymurder participants eligible for death only when their involvement is substantial and they demonstrate a reckless indifference to the grave risk of death created by their actions." (*Banks*, at p. 794.) At one end of the spectrum was *Enmund*, " 'the minor actor in an armed robbery, not on the scene, who neither intended to kill nor was found to have had any culpable mental state.' " (*Banks*, at p. 800, quoting *Tison*, *supra*, 418 U.S. at p. 149.) In those cases, death was disproportional and unconstitutional. (*Banks*, at p. 800; *Tison*, at p. 150.) At the other end of the spectrum were "actual killers and those who attempted or intended to kill." (*Banks*, at p. 800.) In those cases, death was permissible. (*Ibid*.)

Regarding the mental aspect of culpability, *Banks* explained that *Tison*, and in turn section 190.2, subdivision (d), look to whether a defendant has "'"knowingly engag[ed] in criminal activities known to carry a grave risk of death."'" (*Banks*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 801, quoting *Estrada*, *supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 577, which quoted *Tison*, *supra*, 481 U.S. at p. 157.) In other words, "[t]he defendant must be aware of and willingly involved in the violent manner in which the particular offense is committed, demonstrating reckless indifference to the significant risk of death his or her actions create." (*Banks*, at p. 801.)

Regarding the conduct aspect of culpability, *Banks* agreed with *Proby* that the phrase "major participant" had no "specialized or technical meaning" but that a closer examination of *Tison* and *Enmund* was needed "[t]o gain a deeper understanding of the governing test and offer further guidance[.]" (*Banks*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at pp. 800-801.) *Banks* explained that "*Tison* and *Enmund* establish that a defendant's personal involvement must be substantial, greater than the actions of an ordinary aider and abettor

to an ordinary felony murder such as Earl Enmund," and that somewhere between the actions of the Tison brothers and Enmund "lies the constitutional minimum for death eligibility." (*Banks*, at p. 802.)

Banks explained that a jury "must consider the totality of the circumstances" to determine whether a defendant's culpability is sufficient to make him or her death or LWOP eligible. (Banks, supra, 61 Cal.4th at p. 802.) To assist juries with this inquiry, Banks set forth factors that distinguish the Tison brothers from Enmund. (Id. at p. 803.) These factors include:

[(1)] What role did the defendant have in planning the criminal enterprise that led to one or more deaths? [(2)] What role did the defendant have in supplying or using lethal weapons? [(3)] What awareness did the defendant have of particular dangers posed by the nature of the crime, weapons used, or past experience or conduct of the other participants? [(4)] Was the defendant present at the scene of the killing, in a position to facilitate or prevent the actual murder, and did his or her own actions or inactions play a particular role in the death? [(5)] What did the defendant do after lethal force was used?

(*Ibid.*, fn. omitted.)

Applying these principles, *Banks* found that defendant Lovie Troy Matthews's conduct did not amount to major participation in the offense that led to the victim's death because he was "no more than a getaway driver." (*Banks*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 805.) There was no evidence that Matthews played a role in planning the robbery or obtaining weapons; there was no evidence that he or the other participants had previously committed murder, attempted murder, or another violent crime; he was not at the scene; and there was no evidence he saw or heard the shooting, had a role in instigating it or that he could have prevented it. (*Ibid.*) *Banks* held that Matthews did not qualify as a major participant under section 190.2, subdivision (d). (*Id.* at p. 807.)

Banks also found there was insufficient evidence that Matthews possessed the requisite mental state to make him death eligible. (Banks, supra, 61 Cal.4th at p. 807.) Banks reiterated that "[r]eckless indifference to human life 'requires the defendant be "subjectively aware that his or her participation in the felony involved a grave risk of death." '" (Ibid., original italics, quoting People v. Mil (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400, 417, quoting Estrada, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 577.) Banks acknowledged there was evidence from which a jury could find that "Matthews knew he was participating in an armed robbery," "[b]ut nothing at trial supported the conclusion beyond a reasonable doubt that Matthews knew his own actions would involve a grave risk of death." (Banks, at p. 807.) Banks rejected the Court of Appeal's reasoning that reckless indifference to human life could be shown by evidence from which a jury could infer that Matthews knew that participation in an armed robbery and burglary posed a grave risk of death. (Id. at p. 808.)

E. People v. Clark

One year after *Banks*, this Court again, in *Clark*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th 522, addressed the quantum of evidence required to support a felonymurder special circumstance when the defendant was convicted as an aider and abettor. Unlike Matthews, the defendant in *Clark* was more than just a getaway driver. Clark masterminded and organized the after-hours burglary and attempted robbery of a computer store and orchestrated the crime itself from a car in the store's parking lot. (*Id.* at pp. 536-537, 612-614.) An accomplice who entered the store and handcuffed three employees inside the men's restroom fatally shot the mother of one of the employees, who had arrived at the store to pick up her son from work. (*Id.* at pp. 537, 613.)

This Court in *Clark* noted it had "previously upheld a finding that a defendant was a major participant and showed reckless indifference to

human life when the defendant, although not present at the murder, was 'the founder, ringleader, and mastermind behind' a criminal gang engaged in carjacking' "who had instructed his accomplices "that a resisting victim was to be shot.' "(Clark, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 614, citing People v. Williams (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1244, 1281-1282.) However, it was unnecessary to decide whether the defendant in Clark was a "major participant" because the evidence was insufficient to show the defendant had acted with reckless indifference to human life. (Clark, at p. 614.)

In assessing the defendant's mens rea, *Clark* restated and applied a version of the factors enumerated in *Banks*, including (1) a defendant's knowledge that weapons would be used; (2) his physical presence at the crime and opportunity to restrain his accomplices or aid the victim; (3) the duration of the felony; and (4) the defendant's knowledge of his cohorts' likelihood of killing. (*Clark*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at pp. 618-621.)

Additionally, the Court considered the defendant's efforts to minimize the risk of violence in the commission of the felony, concluding such evidence "can be relevant to the reckless indifference to human life analysis" though it would not "in itself, necessarily foreclose" such a finding. (*Id.* at pp. 621-622.)

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